1979

Utah Public Employees Association; And, Larry Fields v. State of Utah; And, Scott M. Matheson, Governor, State of Utah : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Governor of the State of Utah issued a policy prohibiting employees in the Division of Wildlife Resources (DWR), from participating in annual computer drawings for once-in-a-lifetime hunting permits. The appellants, representing employees in DWR, brought an action in Third District Court seeking injunctive relief against the policy and declaratory judgement relief declaring the policy unconstitutional.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Third District Court granted a motion for summary judgement to the respondents.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellants seek a decision of this court reversing the summary judgement entered by the lower court and an Order declaring the policy issued by the respondents unconstitutional and permanently enjoining the respondents from enforcing the same.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Each year the Division of Wildlife Resources of the State of Utah conducts a special computer drawing for once-in-a-lifetime hunting permits. The drawing covers the Buffalo hunt for which 20 resident permits are awarded; the Big Horn Sheep hunt for which 20 resident permits are awarded; and the Moose hunt for which 90 resident permits are awarded. Residents of the State of Utah may submit applications and if successful in the drawing, receive a hunting permit. The permit may only be obtained once in a lifetime, whether the hunter is successful in harvesting the animal or not. Thus the name "once-in-a-lifetime" hunting permit.

On November 7, 1978, the governor issued a policy statement prohibiting personnel from the DWR, members of the Board of Big Game Control and the Director of the Department of Natural Resources from submitting applications for the annual drawings. His stated reason for issuing the policy was to "clear up any misunderstanding that may arise about the propriety of Wildlife personnel participating in a drawing of this kind."

Though the policy statement did not say so, apparently the governor believed that a disproportionately high number of DWR personnel had been successful in obtaining hunting permits in the draw. However, notwithstanding the governor's belief, the facts show that only one DWR employee received a permit in 1977, and three DWR employees received permits in 1978 (Affidavit No. 5). Furthermore, the governor's policy statement and the pleadings filed herein specifically admit that absolutely no evidence of impropriety or wrongdoing exists on the part of DWR personnel or anyone else connected with the drawings.

Finally, affidavits on file herein show that Utah is the only state among the Rocky Mountain States which has a policy prohibiting its public employees from participating in the drawings (Affidavit No. 6), and at least three less burdensome alternative approaches are available which would

allow the state to accomplish the purpose of the policy. These alternative approaches are: (1) to contract out the drawing to an independent third party computer firm (Affidavits No. 1 and 2); (2) to partially contract out the drawing by having it conducted and overseen by an independent third party (Affidavit No. 3); and (3) to limit the restriction against participating in the drawing to only the six DWR employees who are actually involved in conducting the drawing instead of all 350 DWR employees (Affidavit No. 4).

POINT I

THE POLICY VIOLATES EQUAL PROTECTION
BECAUSE THERE ARE SEVERAL LESS BURDEN-
SOME ALTERNATIVES AVAILABLE TO ACCOMPLISH
THE SAME PURPOSE.

The appellants submit that the policy promulgated by the governor violates equal protection because there are several less burdensome alternatives available to accomplish the same purpose.

A three-step test for determining the validity of a law or policy restricting fundamental constitutional rights was enunciated by the California Supreme Court in Bagley v. Washington Township Hospital District, 421 P.2d 409 (1966), a case which held unconstitutional a statute prohibiting public employees from taking an active part in any political campaign. The court said at page 411:

"A governmental agency which would require a waiver of constitutional rights as a condition of public employment bears the burden of showing the practical necessity for the limitation, and that it must demonstrate, (1) that the political restraints rationally relate to the enhancement of public service, (2) that the benefits which the public gains by the restraints outweigh the resulting impairment of constitutional rights, and (3) that no alternatives less subversive of constitutional rights are available. (emphasis added).

A subsequent California case, City of Carmel-By-Sea v. Young, 466 P.2d 225 (1970), held unconstitutional a statute requiring financial disclosure by public officials on the grounds that less burdensome alternatives existed to accomplish the purpose of the statute. The court said at page 228:

"The familiar rule is that a "governmental purpose to control or prevent activities constitutionally subject to state regulation may not be achieved by means which sweep unnecessarily broadly and thereby invade the area of protected freedoms." (NAACP v. Alabama (1964) 377 U.S. 288, 307, 84 S.Ct. 1302, 1314, 12 L.Ed. 2d 325; Griswold v. State of Connecticut (1965) 381 U.S. 479, 485, 85 S.Ct. 1678, 1682, 14 L.Ed.2d 510.) "[E]ven though the governmental purpose be legitimate and substantial, that purpose cannot be pursued by means that broadly stifle fundamental personal liberties when the end can be more narrowly achieved." (Shelton v. Tucker (1960) 364 U.S. 479, 488, 81 S.Ct. 247, 252, 5 L.Ed.2d 231.) "Precision of regulation is required so that the exercise of our most precious freedoms will not be

unduly curtailed except to the extent necessitated by the legitimate governmental objective. [Citations.]" (Vogel v. County of Los Angeles (1967) 68 Cal.2d 18, 22, 64 Cal. Rptr. 409, 411, 434, P.2d 961, 963.)

The court in City of Carmel-By-The-Sea, supra, stated further at page 232:

"[W]here fundamental personal liberties are involved, they may not be abridged by the States simply on a showing that a regulatory statute has some rational relationship to the effectuation of a proper state purpose. 'Where there is a significant encroachment upon personal liberty, the State may prevail only upon showing a subordinating interest which is compelling.' [Citation.] The law must be shown 'necessary, and not merely rationally related to, the accomplishment of a permissible state policy.' [Citations.]" (Griswold v. State of Connecticut, supra, 381 U.S. 479, 497, 85 S.Ct. 1678, 1689). "The breadth of legislative abridgement must be viewed in the light of less drastic means for achieving the same basic purpose." (Sheldon v. Tucker, supra, 364 U.S. 479, 488, 81 S.Ct. 247, 252, 5 L.Ed.2d 231.)

Fort v. Civil Service Commission, 392 P.2d 385 (1964), involved a civil service employee who was dismissed for violating a county charter provision restricting the political activity of county employees. In holding the charter provision unconstitutional for being overly broad, the court said the following at page 389:

"It would plainly be incumbent upon the state to demonstrate that no alternative forms of regulation would combat the asserted abuses without infringing on First Amendment rights."

Another case supportive of the proposition that a policy restricting fundamental rights cannot stand if there is a less restrictive alternative available to accomplish the same policy, is Mancuso v. Taft, 341 F.Supp. 574 (1972). There the court said in declaring unconstitutional a city charter provision restricting political activity rights:

"A regulation is invalid when there are less drastic means by which a statute restricting First Amendment rights could achieve its legitimate goal."

In the instant case, there are affidavits on file which show the existence of at least three approaches which are less burdensome on the fundamental right of the DWR employees to participate in the drawing and to hunt, while still allowing the accomplishment of the purpose for which the policy was implemented.

The first alternative, as set forth in affidavits no. 1 and 2, involves contracting out the entire drawing process to an independent third party. This would totally remove all DWR employees from the drawing process.

The second alternative, as set forth in affidavit no. 3, involves partially contracting out the drawing process to an independent third party with the computer

service and non-consequential support services being provided by DWR personnel as necessary. This independent third party could be an elected official, any civic minded individual selected by the governor, or indeed the governor himself. This approach would result in no expenditure of funds by the state.

The third alternative, as set forth in affidavit no. 4, involves limiting the prohibition to only those few DWR employees who are actually involved in the drawing process. Currently, the process is completely handled by eight DWR employees, and could conceivably be handled by six employees. Therefore, it makes little sense to prohibit all 350 DWR employees from participating in the drawing, when the prohibition could be limited to those employees actually involved in conducting the drawing. This third alternative is not totally acceptable to the appellants for obvious reasons, but is suggested simply because they find it less repugnant than a total prohibition. The six employees would have to be volunteers who simply elect not to hunt.

In the instant case it is clear that the right to participate in the annual computer drawing for once-in-a-lifetime hunting permits, and to engage in the hunt itself should they be successful in the drawing, is a fundamental right to DWR personnel. To say that hunting is a major

part of a DWR employee's life is a great understatement. Indeed, it is because of their love for hunting and outdoor recreation that most personnel in the DWR are employed in that agency. DWR personnel are the core of the hunting fraternity in the State of Utah, and to arbitrarily restrict their participation in that hunting fraternity is to deny them their First Amendment Right of Freedom of Association. To arbitrarily restrict their right to hunt and thereby restrict their right to harvest game to sustain themselves and their families, is to deprive them of property without Due Process of law. There is no justifiable reason to deny DWR employees, who are taxpayers of the state, access to the same program which is available to all other residents of the state. To do so is to violate the Equal Protection rights of the DWR employees.

This arbitrary prohibition is particularly repugnant in view of the fact that it is totally unnecessary. As set forth above, there are at least three alternatives available to the governor which would accomplish the same purpose without violating the rights of DWR employees. These alternative approaches should be utilized before infringing upon the above-mentioned fundamental rights of DWR personnel.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE
RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGEMENT
IN VIEW OF THE COURT'S ADMISSION THAT MATERIAL
FACTS WERE IN DISPUTE.

The law is clear that summary judgement cannot be granted when material facts are in dispute. Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P. states:

"Motion and Proceedings thereon. The motion shall be served at least 10 days before the time fixed for the hearing. The adverse party prior to the day of hearing may serve opposing affidavits. The judgement sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgement as a matter of law. A summary judgement, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages." (emphasis added).

Following that rule, the Utah Supreme Court in Hatch v. Sugarhouse Finance Company, 434 P.2d 758 (1967), and Burnham v. Bankers Life & Casualty Company, 470 P.2d 261 (1970) held summary judgements granted by lower courts inappropriate because material issues of fact remained in dispute.

In the instant case, the lower court issued a memorandum decision granting the respondent's motion for summary judgement. In that memorandum decision, the lower court stated:

Based on the assertions of counsel that there are no questions of fact but only questions of law, the court finds that the policy statement issued by the Governor was within the constitutional powers of the office and gives summary judgement to the Defendant.

However, the court wishes to note that the Plaintiff has alleged that the Governor's policy is too stringent and that the same thing can be accomplished in a "less burdensome and restrictive" way, and this may be so. Affadavits are provided that assert alternative methods of solving this problem but in the court's opinion they raise questions of fact which the court cannot consider on a motion for summary judgement.

The court feels that the only way to resolve the question on whether there is a less burdensome and restrictive way is at an evidentiary hearing.

In short, the lower court granted the respondent's motion for summary judgement notwithstanding the admission that there existed disputed issues of material fact. For that reason the lower court's decision was in error.