1979

Utah Public Employees Association; And, Larry Fields v. State of Utah; And, Scott M. Matheson, Governor, State of Utah : Brief of Respondents'

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

Appellants filed an action in the Third Judicial District Court, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief that a policy directive issued by the Governor of the State of Utah, prohibiting employees in the Division of Wildlife Resources from participating in an annual drawing for once-in-a-life-time hunting permits, violated the employees' rights. The Third Judicial District Court granted respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on all issues.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents seek affirmation of the decision of the Third Judicial District Court, declaring the Governor's policy directive to be lawful and constitutional.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondents generally accept appellants' Statement of Facts, except respondents disagree that there are at least three less burdensome alternative approaches, or that that aspect is even relevant to the present issues.

Appellants fail to mention that in 1978, just prior to the Governor's policy directive being issued, three Division of Wildlife Resources' employees who submitted applications, were successful in obtaining permits for the hunt. One employee obtained two permits--one for the Big Horn sheep and one for the buffalo. Another employee received only a moose permit, and a third employee received only a Big Horn sheep permit. That year, 3,181 applications (320 Big Horn sheep, 1261 buffalo, 1600 moose) were received for the drawings. Out of the 3,181 applications, only 20 sheep permits, 20 buffalo permits, and 90 moose permits would be issued, of which one employee obtained two permits; another employee received a moose permit, and a third employee received a Big Horn sheep permit.

Appellants also fail to mention that, subsequent to the Third Judicial District Court's ruling in this matter, the attorneys for both parties met in chambers with the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, District Judge,

regarding the Memorandum Decision issued by Judge Wilkinson on July 18, 1979. The sum and substance of that conversation was that Judge Wilkinson ruled definitively for defendants-respondents in the matter, and plaintiffs' only remedy at that point, according to the Judge, was to seek an appeal to the Utah Supreme Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE GOVERNOR HAS STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE THE POLICY DIRECTIVE IN QUESTION.

The Governor is statutorily and constitutionally authorized to adopt the policy in question. (See Exhibit A. attached hereto.) Utah Code Ann. Section 67-1-1 (1953), provides, in part:

"In addition to those prescribed by the Constitution, the governor has the following powers and must perform the following duties:

- (1) He shall supervise the official conduct of all executive and ministerial officers."

The mandatory language of the above-cited statute requires the Governor to supervise the conduct of all State employees. The manner in which the drawing for the big hunt permits is carried out is within the scope of "official conduct" of employees and is properly within the supervisory powers of the Governor over ministerial officers.

The Utah Constitution, Article VII, Section 5, prescribes the duties of the Governor and provides, in part:

"The Governor shall see that the laws are faithfully executed; he shall transact all executive business with the officers of the government, civil and military, and may require information in writing from the officers of the Executive Department,"

The above-cited constitutional provision, requiring the Governor to see that the laws are faithfully executed, contains the inherent constitutional authority to issue policy directives regarding the affairs of State government. (See, generally, 38 Am.Jur. 2d, Governor, Sections 1 and 4, at pages 932-935.) In the case of Kenny v. Byrne, 365 A.2d 211, 144 N.J. Super. 243 (1976), the New Jersey Superior Court upheld an Executive Order of the Governor of New Jersey, requiring high echelon State employees to file financial disclosure statements. The Court in so holding stated:

"Appellants' brief raises the question of the authority of the Governor to issue the executive order, contending that it is ultra vires and beyond his constitutional powers. This contention is manifestly without merit.

"The Governor is vested with the executive power of the State. N.J. Const. (1947), Art. V, Section 1, par. 1. As the head of the Executive Branch of government he has the duty and power to supervise all employees in each principal department of that branch. Id., Art. V, Section 4, par. 2. Of necessity, this includes the inherent power to issue directives and orders by way of implementation in order to insure efficient and honest performance by those state employees within his jurisdiction. Such power stems from the Governor's responsibility under the foregoing constitutional provisions as well as Art. V, Section 1, par. 11, which requires that he 'take care that the laws be faithfully executed.'" 365 A.2d 211, 215.

There can be no question that the Governor has the legal authority to adopt said policy directive under both the statutes of the State and the Utah Constitution. See, generally, Note, Gubernatorial Executive Orders as Devices for Administrative Direction and Control, 50 Iowa Law Review 78 (1964).

The Utah Legislature has adopted the Utah Public Officers' and Employees' Ethics Act, set forth in Utah Code Ann. Section 67-16-1 (1953), et seq.. Said Act has application to these appellants who are the employees of the Division of Wildlife Resources, Department of Natural Resources, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 67-16-3 (9) (1953), defining a "public employee." Utah Code Ann. Section 67-16-4 (3), provides:

"... No public officer or public employee shall:

- (3) Use or attempt to use his official position to secure special privileges or exemptions for himself or others."

The Governor, being fearful of the appearance of impropriety if State employees participated in a drawing for the 20-to-90 permits to hunt big game animals, adopted a policy prohibiting Division employees and members of the Big Game Board from participating in the drawing. Said policy was adopted in the discretion of the Governor to further the best interests of the people of the State of Utah and to carry out the legislative mandate which would prohibit "actual or potential conflicts of interest." The Legislature

set forth in Utah Code Ann. Section 67-16-2 (1953):

"Purpose of act.--The purpose of this act is to set forth standards of conduct for officers and employees of the state of Utah and its political subdivisions in areas where there are actual or potential conflicts of interest between their public duties and their private interest. In this manner the legislature intends to promote the public interest and strengthen the faith and confidence of the people of Utah in the integrity of their government. It does not intend to deny any public officer or employee the opportunity available to all other citizens of the state to acquire private economic or other interests so long as this does not interfere with his full and faithful discharge of his public duties." (Emphasis added.)

In the above-cited Kenny v. Byrne, supra, the Court noted in dictum:

"... By accepting public employment an individual steps from the category of a purely private citizen to that of a public citizen. And in that transition he must of necessity subordinate his private rights to the extent that they may compete or conflict with the superior right of the public to achieve honest and efficient government." 635 A.2d 211, 216.

The Governor's policy, prohibiting Wildlife employees from participating in the big game drawing, was adopted to insure the greatest degree of public confidence in honest and efficient government and to avoid any appearance of impropriety. To rule in appellants' favor that the Governor may not adopt such a policy would severely weaken the Governor's office and thwart his efforts to achieve the highest degree of integrity in government as well as to instill public confidence in honest, efficient, and fair government.

POINT II

THE GOVERNOR'S POLICY DIRECTIVE DOES NOT VIOLATE APPELLANTS' CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHTS AS PUBLIC EMPLOYEES.

The policy adopted by the Governor does not infringe upon any legally protected rights of appellants' or employees' of the Division of Wildlife Resources. The above-cited Kenny v. Byrne, supra, sets forth the general test regarding constitutional infringement of rights. The New Jersey Superior Court in finding no constitutional impairments under the facts of that case, stated:

"It is axiomatic that a classification in a statute or executive order does not offend the Equal Protection Clause if it conceivably has some reasonable basis to justify the same. Mere inequality or difference in treatment does not suffice to support a charge of unconstitutional discrimination. See Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 90 S.Ct. 1153, 25 L.Ed.2d 491 (1970); Lindsley v. Natural Carbonic Gas Co., 220 U.S. 61, 31 S.Ct. 337, 55 L.Ed. 369 (1910). And a classification must be upheld under any reasonable set of facts unless there is a showing of invidious discrimination. Morey v. Dowd, 354 U.S. 457, 463, 77 S.Ct. 1344, 1348, 1 L.Ed.2d 1485, 1490 (1957).

"A classification is presumed to be constitutional and the one who attacks it has the burden of showing that it is arbitrary and without a reasonable basis to support it. David v. Vesta Co., 45 N.J. 301, 315, 212 A.2d 345 (1965). Plaintiffs have utterly failed to sustain this burden." 365 A.2d 211, 219.

Respondents particularly cite the leading case of Lindsley v. Natural Carbonic Gas Co., supra, which basically sets forth the "reasonable basis" test. The Court in that case held that:

"The rules by which this contention must be tested, as is shown by repeated decisions of this court, are these:

1. The equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment does not take from the state the power to classify in the adoption of police laws, but admits of the exercise of a wide scope of discretion in that regard and avoids what is done only when it is without any reasonable basis and, therefore, is purely arbitrary.
2. The classification having some reasonable basis does not offend against the clause merely because it is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequity.
3. When a classification in such a law is called in question, if any state of facts reasonably can be conceived that would sustain it, the existence of that state of facts at the time the law was enacted must be assumed.
4. One who assails the classification in such a law must carry the burden of showing that it does not rest upon any reasonable basis, but is essentially arbitrary." 220 U.S. 61, 78-79.

The Utah cases, setting forth the "reasonable basis for classification" test are legion, and respondents would refer this Court to only a few of those cases: Slater v. Salt Lake City, et al., 115 Utah 476, 206 P.2d 153 (1949); State v. Mason, 94 Utah 501, 78 P.2d 920, 117 A.L.R. 330 (1938).

As contrasted with the "reasonable basis for classification" test is the so-called "strict scrutiny" test whenever a "fundamental interest" is involved or a "suspect" classification may exist. In those circumstances the Court has concluded that any statutory classifications must be justified by showing a "compelling State interest" necessitating the classification,

and that the distinctions are necessary to further the purpose of the statute or regulation. The "strict scrutiny" cases, however, seem to be confined to the violation of fundamentally guaranteed rights. These cases traditionally deal with questions of race distinctions, right-to-vote, right of interstate travel and movement, right to constitutional protections in criminal processes, right of procreation, and other fundamentally guaranteed rights. The cases cited by appellants' seem to rely upon one facet of a "strict scrutiny" test, requiring that "no other less restrictive alternatives" be found available. Appellants extrapolate from this portion of the strict scrutiny test and suggest that the Governor must mandatorily exhaust all other available and possibly less restrictive alternatives before he may take any action regarding the conduct of Executive Branch employees.

Respondents submit that the "strict scrutiny" test should not be applied, because no fundamentally guaranteed rights or interests are at stake. It is very difficult to precisely define "fundamental rights"--yet those terms have conceptual meaning to most everyone hearing them. Respondents believe that the best definition, aside from listing a multitude of specific examples from earlier decisions, is found in 16 Am.Jur.2d, Constitutional Law, at page 635, defining a "constitution":

"... A constitution is not the beginning of a community, nor does it originate and create institutions of government. Instead, it assumes the existence of an

established system which is still to continue in force, and it is based on pre-existing rights, laws, and modes of thought. It has been aptly said that written constitutions sanctify and confirm great principles, but do not bring them into existence, and that a constitution is not the cause, but a consequence, of personal and political freedom."

This implies that "fundamental rights" are those "pre-existing rights" which our constitutions and laws protect. These are the "certain unalienable Rights" referred to by Thomas Jefferson in the Declaration of Independence. The "rights" sought to be protected by appellants' to seek a hunting permit or "not to be excluded" by virtue of accepting public employment, under the facts of this case, do not rise to the level of fundamental rights. They are at best permissive rights obtainable only under the State's licensing or franchising power. Hence, the "strict scrutiny" test should have no application.

The cases cited by appellants' all deal with limitations on the political activities of public employees and, as such, are not in point. The "strict scrutiny" test is generally regarded as an exception to the traditional equal protection standards of requiring that a rational basis exist for statutory classifications, in order that the objects or purposes of the legislation may be obtained. Neither this Court nor any other court in similar situations has required that the governor of a state in issuing a policy directive regarding the conduct of public employees make an extensive search for less restrictive alternatives, in order to control the administrative affairs of State government.

The Bagley case (421 P.2d 409 (1966)) is one of three cases from the State of California cited by appellants'. Those cases may be unique to the State of California, but, in any event, they all deal with the deprivation of political and First Amendment rights. This Court expressly rejected the application of the Bagley case in Salt Lake City Firefighters' Local 1645 v. Salt Lake City, 22 Utah 2d 115, 449 P.2d 239 (1979). In the Firefighters' case, the Court unanimously held that Salt Lake City had the power to require employees of the Fire Department to be residents of the city. Respondents submit that seeking less restrictive alternatives is not the current law in the State of Utah and simply has no application to this fact situation.

An examination of the class of employees affected by the policy of the Governor reflects a sound and reasonable basis for the Governor's decision. The affected employees are all those who may have direct contact with those individuals conducting the drawing as well as employees having access to inside information regarding the whereabouts of the big game, the habits and movements of the animals, and access to special radio-sensing devices, which would aid in killing one of the big game animals. Said employees in appellants' class also are charged with the responsibility of wildlife management and conservation within the State of Utah. They personally participate in the decision-making processes regarding wildlife and are most likely to become involved in conflicts of interests, or other improper activities regarding the selection of 20-to-90 resident

permits for shooting the big game animals.

In response to public criticism when 3,181 applications were received in 1978, of which only 20 sheep permits, 20 buffalo permits and 90 moose permits would be issued, with three employees receiving four permits, the Governor in his discretion decided that the public interest would best be served if all employees in Wildlife Resources were excluded from participation in the drawing. While no evidence exists that there was any impropriety on the part of the Division of Wildlife Resources' employees, the Governor issued the directive to "clear up any misunderstanding that may arise about the propriety of Wildlife personnel participating in a drawing of this kind."

Respondents submit that, in order to insure a strong, efficient, and honest government and create the greatest amount of public confidence in our government officials, appellants should be prohibited from participating in the drawing.

CONCLUSION


Respondent, Scott M. Matheson, Governor of the State of Utah, has statutory and constitutional authority to supervise the employees in the Executive Branch of government and to issue policy directives. Said policy statement in question is legally and lawfully adopted and has a sound, rational basis--that being to create public confidence in the honesty and integrity of State government. Said policy does not infringe upon any

constitutional or legally protected right of appellants' and does not discriminate under the Constitution. The District Court's decision should be affirmed.